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to that issue. If the TSA decision 
maker raises an issue that is solely an 
issue of law, or the issue was addressed 
at the hearing but was not raised by a 
party in the briefs on appeal, the TSA 
decision maker need not remand the 
case to the ALJ for further proceedings 
but has the discretion to do so. 

(2) The TSA decision maker will issue 
the final decision and order of the Ad-
ministrator on appeal in writing and 
will serve a copy of the decision and 
order on each party. Unless a petition 
for review is filed pursuant to § 1503.659, 
a final decision and order of the Ad-
ministrator will be considered an order 
assessing civil penalty if the TSA deci-
sion maker finds that an alleged viola-
tion occurred and a civil penalty is 
warranted. 

(3) A final decision and order of the 
Administrator after appeal is binding 
precedent in any other civil penalty ac-
tion unless appealed and reversed by a 
court of competent jurisdiction. 

(4) The TSA decision maker will de-
termine whether the decision and order 
of the TSA decision maker, with the 
ALJ’s initial decision or order at-
tached, may be released to the public, 
either in whole or in redacted form. In 
making this determination, the TSA 
decision maker will consider whether 
disclosure of any of the information in 
the decision and order would be detri-
mental to transportation security, 
would not be in the public interest, or 
should not otherwise be required to be 
made available to the public. 

§ 1503.659 Petition to reconsider or 
modify a final decision and order of 
the TSA decision maker on appeal. 

(a) General. Any party may petition 
the TSA decision maker to reconsider 
or modify a final decision and order 
issued by the TSA decision maker on 
appeal from an initial decision. A party 
must file a petition to reconsider or 
modify not later than 30 days after 
service of the TSA decision maker’s 
final decision and order on appeal and 
must serve a copy of the petition on 
each party. The TSA decision maker 
will not reconsider or modify an initial 
decision and order issued by an ALJ 
that has not been appealed by any 
party to the TSA decision maker and 

filed with the Enforcement Docket 
Clerk. 

(b) Form and number of copies. A party 
must file in writing a petition to recon-
sider or modify. The party must file 
the original petition with the Enforce-
ment Docket Clerk and must serve a 
copy of the petition on each party. 

(c) Contents. A party must state brief-
ly and specifically the alleged errors in 
the final decision and order on appeal, 
the relief sought by the party, and the 
grounds that support the petition to re-
consider or modify. 

(1) If the petition is based, in whole 
or in part, on allegations regarding the 
consequences of the TSA decision mak-
er’s decision, the party must describe 
and support those allegations. 

(2) If the petition is based, in whole 
or in part, on new material not pre-
viously raised in the proceedings, the 
party must set forth the new material 
and include affidavits of prospective 
witnesses and authenticated docu-
ments that would be introduced in sup-
port of the new material. The party 
must explain, in detail, why the new 
material was not discovered through 
due diligence prior to the hearing. 

(d) Repetitious and frivolous petitions. 
The TSA decision maker will not con-
sider repetitious or frivolous petitions. 
The TSA decision maker may sum-
marily dismiss repetitious or frivolous 
petitions to reconsider or modify. 

(e) Reply petitions. Any other party 
may reply to a petition to reconsider 
or modify, not later than 30 days after 
service of the petition on that party, 
by filing a reply with the Enforcement 
Docket Clerk. A party must serve a 
copy of the reply on each party. 

(f) Effect of filing petition. Unless oth-
erwise ordered by the TSA decision 
maker, filing a petition pursuant to 
this section will stay the effective date 
of the TSA decision maker’s final deci-
sion and order on appeal. 

(g) The TSA decision maker’s decision 
on petition. The TSA decision maker 
has sole discretion to grant or deny a 
petition to reconsider or modify. The 
TSA decision maker will grant or deny 
a petition to reconsider or modify 
within a reasonable time after receipt 
of the petition or receipt of the reply 
petition, if any. The TSA decision 
maker may affirm, modify, or reverse 

VerDate Mar<15>2010 10:09 Nov 19, 2012 Jkt 226225 PO 00000 Frm 00276 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Y:\SGML\226225.XXX 226225er
ow

e 
on

 D
S

K
2V

P
T

V
N

1P
R

O
D

 w
ith

 



267 

Transportation Security Administration, DHS § 1503.703 

the final decision and order on appeal, 
or may remand the case for any pro-
ceedings that the TSA decision maker 
determines may be necessary. 

[74 FR 36039, July 21, 2009, as amended at 75 
FR 58334, Sept. 24, 2010] 

§ 1503.661 Judicial review of a final 
order. 

For violations of a TSA requirement, 
a party may petition for review of a 
final order of the Administrator only 
to the courts of appeals of the United 
States or the United States Court of 
Appeals for the District of Columbia 
pursuant to 49 U.S.C. 46110. A party 
seeking judicial review of a final order 
must file a petition for review not later 
than 60 days after the final order has 
been served on the party. 

Subpart H—Judicial Assessment of 
Civil Penalties 

§ 1503.701 Applicability of this sub-
part. 

(a) Jurisdictional minimums. This sub-
part applies to a civil penalty action 
under this part in which the total 
amount in controversy exceeds the fol-
lowing amounts. 

(b) In general. Except as provided in 
paragraph (c) of this section, in the 
case of violation of title 49 U.S.C. or 46 
U.S.C chapter 701, a regulation pre-
scribed, or order issued under any of 
those provisions, the amount in con-
troversy exceeds the following: 

(1) $50,000, in the case of violation by 
an individual or small business con-
cern, as defined in section 3 of the 
Small Business Act (15 U.S.C. 632). 

(2) $400,000, in the case of violation by 
any other person. 

(c) Certain aviation related violations. 
In the case of a violation of 49 U.S. C. 
chapter 449 (except sections 44902, 
44903(d), 44907(a)–(d)(1)(A), 
44907(d)(1)(C)–(f), 44908, and 44909), or a 
regulation prescribed or order issued 
under any of those provisions, the 
amount in controversy exceeds the fol-
lowing: 

(1) $50,000, in the case of violation by 
an individual (except an airman serv-
ing as an airman), any person not oper-
ating an aircraft for the transportation 
of passengers or property for com-
pensation, or a small business concern, 

as defined in section 3 of the Small 
Business Act (15 U.S.C. 632). 

(2) $400,000, in the case of violation by 
a person operating an aircraft for the 
transportation of passengers or prop-
erty for compensation (except an indi-
vidual serving as an airman). 

§ 1503.703 Civil penalty letter; referral. 

(a) Issuance. In a civil penalty action 
in which the amount in controversy ex-
ceeds the amounts set forth in 
§ 1503.701, the Administrator will send a 
civil penalty letter to the person 
charged with a violation of a TSA re-
quirement. 

(b) Contents. The civil penalty letter 
will contain a statement of the 
charges; the applicable law, rule, regu-
lation, or order; the amount of civil 
penalty that the Administrator will ac-
cept in full settlement of the action or 
an offer to compromise the civil pen-
alty. 

(c) Response. Not later than 30 days 
after receipt of the civil penalty letter, 
the person charged with a violation 
may present to the agency attorney 
any material or information in answer 
to the charges, either orally or in writ-
ing, that may explain, mitigate, or 
deny the violation or that may show 
extenuating circumstances. The Ad-
ministrator will consider any material 
or information submitted in accord-
ance with this paragraph (c) to deter-
mine whether the person is subject to a 
civil penalty or to determine the 
amount for which the Administrator 
will compromise the action. 

(d) Compromise. If the person charged 
with a violation offers to compromise 
the civil penalty action for a specific 
amount, that person must send pay-
ment in a form and manner acceptable 
to TSA for that amount to the agency, 
made payable to the Transportation 
Security Administration, or make pay-
ment electronically through http:// 
www.pay.gov. The Chief Counsel or the 
Deputy Chief Counsel for Civil Enforce-
ment may accept the payment or may 
refuse and return the payment. If the 
Administrator accepts the offer to 
compromise, the agency will send a let-
ter to the person charged with the vio-
lation stating that the payment is ac-
cepted in full settlement of the civil 

VerDate Mar<15>2010 10:09 Nov 19, 2012 Jkt 226225 PO 00000 Frm 00277 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Y:\SGML\226225.XXX 226225er
ow

e 
on

 D
S

K
2V

P
T

V
N

1P
R

O
D

 w
ith

 


		Superintendent of Documents
	2012-12-06T10:59:59-0500
	US GPO, Washington, DC 20401
	Superintendent of Documents
	GPO attests that this document has not been altered since it was disseminated by GPO




